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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION
KISHA RANDERSON,
Plaintiff,
V. CaseNo: 8:15-cv-615-T-30TBM
TAYLOR HAYDEN, PLLC, etal.,

Defendants.

ORDER

THIS CAUSE comes before the Court ugba Defendants’ Motin to Dismiss the
Second Amended Complaint (DKt29), Defendants’ Motion t8trike Demand for Jury
Trial (Dkt. # 30) and Plaintis Responses in Opposition tile Motions (Dkts. #31 and
#32). Upon review and consi@ion, it is the Court’s cohgsion that the Second Amended
Complaint shoulde dismissed.

Background

Plaintiff filed her Second Amended Comiplaagainst the Defendants, a law firm
and one of its attorneys, allegithat they violated the Fddebt Collections Practices Act,
15 U.S.C. § 1692¢t seq. (the “FDCPA”). Defendants sent a presuit letter to Plaintiff
informing her that she was in default of Ineortgage and that her mortgage holder would
pursue foreclosure as a result of the def@dtendants then served her with a foreclosure
complaint, which included a notice purstdo the FDCPA. Inher Second Amended

Complaint Plaintiff alleges i€ount | that Defendants viokd § 1692e(10) of the FDCPA
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by attaching an unlawful notice to the fol@sure complaint which is deceptive and
misleading and in Count Il that Defendantiolated 8§ 1692e(5) of the FDCPA by
threatening to collectttorneys’ fees in the presuit lettand foreclosure complaint when
they had no intention of doing so.
. ThePresuit Letter

The presuit letter states that “[t]his lawnfi may be deemed a debt collector under
the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. Amformation obtainedwill be used for the
purpose of collecting debtThe presuit letter identifies 8.Bank, National Association,
a/k/a U.S. Bank, N.A. as the creditor or 8®vicing agent for thereditor “to whom the
mortgage debt is owed|,]” and states that loan is evidenced by note and mortgage”
and that the letter serves as a “formal notitéhe existence of a default under said loan
documents.” The letter provides this cavédityou previously reeived a discharge in
bankruptcy involving this loan and did nogjsia reaffirmation agreeant, then this letter
IS not an attempt to colleatmortgage debt from you perglly; however, you could lose
your home by foreclosure in theextt any default is not cured.”

1.  TheForeclosure Complaint

The foreclosure complaint contains a ‘tFRiebt Notification” with the following
heading:

NOTE: PURSUANT TO THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION

PRACTICESACT YOU ARE ADVISED THAT THISLAW FIRM IS

DEEMED TO BE A DEBT COLLECTOR ATTEMPTING TO

COLLECT A DEBT AND ANY INFORMATION WILL BE USED

FOR THAT PURPOSE.

(Emphasis in original).



The Notice also states that:

...In the event that Taylor Hagd, PPLC is demed a “debt
collector” within the meaning adhe [FDCPA], we are hereby
giving notice of our attempt toollect a debt....Unless Taylor
Hayden, PLLC is notified, withithirty days we will assume
the debt is valid. If we are naed within thirty days, we will
either obtain verification of #hdebt or obtain a copy of the
judgment or other instrument upon which the obligation is
based.

If, however, you request proof dfie debt or the name and
address of the original creditovithin the thirty day period

which begins with your receipof this complaint, the law

requires us to suspend oeifforts (through litigation or

otherwise) to collect the dehintil we mail the requested
information to you.

The foreclosure complaint alleged that “BJ.Bank, N.A.] is entitled to enforce the
Note...as the Holder dhe Note[,]” and states that altigh the “[b]Jorrowers, as makers
of the Note, are typically personally liable fodeficiency, if any; ... [U.S. Bank, N.A.] is
seeking an in rem judgmeanly and is waiving all rightso seek amounts which do not
satisfy a judgment entered by this Court.” Itter alleged that “[U.S. Bank, N.A.]... is
entitled to and seeks to be aded [attorneys’] fees, in accordance with the applicable
language of the Note and kgage contracts attached.”

[I1.  TheMotion to Dismiss

Defendants argue in their Motion to Dissiithat the Plaintiff has not sufficiently
alleged a violation of the FDCPA because slils fa establish a threshold issue: that she
was subject to debt colleosh. Defendants argue that theyere merely engaged in
enforcing a security instrument which is Adebt collection” atvity under the FDCPA

as a matter of law. Further, to the exte @ourt holds that the ¢ts sufficiently allege



that the Defendants were engaged in debécttin activity, they arguinat the “Fair Debt
Notification” attached to the foreclosure cdaipt is not deceptivand that the Defendants
did not make any unlawful “tkeat.” Therefore, Defendantsyaie, Plaintiff's claims do not
allege any violation of the FDCPA.
Discussion
. Standard of Review

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Proceel 12(b)(6), a complaint may be dismissed
for failure to state a claim upon which relief daa granted. In considering a motion to
dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a court must accept the factual adlegati the complaint
as true and evaluate all infaces derived from those factsthre light most favorable to
the plaintiff. See Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007). Conclusory allegations,
unwarranted factual deductiorts, legal conclusions masquerading as facts, however, are
not entitled to the assumption of truttsee Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009);
Davilav. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 326 F.3d 1183, 1185 (11th Cir. 2003).
[I. Causeof Action under the FDCPA

The FDCPA prohibits a “debcollector” from using a “false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in @miion with the collection of any debt.” 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1692e. It further prdits threatening “to take argction that cannot legally be
taken or that is not intended to be takenig]’at 8§ 1692e(5), and “[t]he use of any false
representation or deceptive medoscollect or attempt to dect any debt or to obtain
information concerning a consumeld. at § 1692e(10). Howevedoefore a plaintiff can

state a plausible FDCPA claim under § 169elaintiff must allege sufficient facts



demonstrating that the defendas a “debt collector” and #t the challenged conduct is
related to “debt collection.Reese v. Ellis, Painter, Ratterree & Adams, LLP, 678 F.3d
1211, 1216 (11th Cir. 2012).

The Defendants do not dispute that they @ebt collectors, but do dispute that the
presuit letter and foreclosure colaipt are an attempt to colledébt. Therefore, before the
Court can analyze whether Plaintiff sufficiensiyates any cause oftam for violation of
8§ 1692e of the FDCPA, the Court must tficetermine whether the presuit letter and
foreclosure complaint are communications that constitute debt collection activity. Once the
Court makes that determination, it can thealyre whether any part of the presuit letter
or foreclosure complaint violate a spéciprovision of 8 1692e of the FDCPA.

a. Debt Collection Activity

Defendants argue that thaye not engaged in debt collection because the presuit
letter merely provides a notice of defaahd the foreclosure complaint sought only to
foreclose on the security imest, and explicitly states thatwill not seek a deficiency
judgment against the Plaintiff. Therefore, Defendants argue, theymersdy engaged in
the enforcement of a securitytémnest. Plaintiff argues thatdtpresuit letter and foreclosure
complaint are clearly debt collection activipder the FDCPA and the FDCPA does not
exclude foreclosure actiopsr se.

Foreclosing on a mortgage in defauliarsting alone, is the enforcement of a
security interest, not debt collectidBee Warren v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 342
Fed. Appx 458, 461 (11th Ci2009). However, a deficiency action seeking payment on

the promissory note does constitute debt collection actiBaggett v. Law Offices of



Daniel C. Consuegra, P.L., No. 3:14-CV-1014-J-32PDB, 2015 WL 1707479, at *5 (M.D.
Fla. Apr. 15, 2015). Thereforepmmunications that attemptémforce a security interest
may also constitute an attempt to collec tinderlying debt ift seeks payment on the
note See Reese, 678 F.3d at 1217—-18ee also Bourff v. Rubin Lublin, LLC, 674 F.3d 1238,
1241 (11th Cir. 2012) (treay a letter seeking payment arpromissory note secured by
a mortgage as “an attempt at debt caite€ within the meaning of the FDCPARirster
v. Am. Home Mortg. Servicing, Inc., 481 Fed. Appx. 579, 583 1th Cir. 2012) (same).
But see Hasbun v. Reconstruct Co., N.A., 508 Fed. Appx. 941 (11th Cir. 2013) (affirming
dismissal of an FDCPA claim, in partdaeise the communication at issue explicitly
informed the plaintiff thathe defendant was not demandpayment of a debt; instead, it
was notifying her that the property was being foreclosed).

Although some courts have stated tWatrren has been “called into question” by
the Eleventh Cingit's decision irReese; see Johnstone v. Aldridge Connors, LLP, No. 13—
61757-CIV, 2013 WL6086049 (S.D. FlaNov. 20, 2013), thdreese court expressly
declined to revisit its decision iWarren. See Reese, 678 F.3d at 1218 n. Fee also
Dunavant v. Srote & Permutt, P.C., No. 14-13314, 2Ib WL 525536 (11th Cir. Feb. 9,
2015) (holding that its previous holdings\varren andBirster are not in conflict and
deciding that publication of a foreclosurdéesaotice was not debt collection activitysee
also Helman v. Udren Law Offices, P.C., 0:14-CV-60808, 2014 WIz781199, at *5 (S.D.
Fla. Dec. 17, 2014) (holding that a mogadefault notice offering alternatives to
foreclosure but not demanding payment waslebt collection actity under the FDCPA).

Therefore, whether the presuit letter and ¢tysure complaint constitute debt collection



activity under the FDCPA depends on #pecific language in the communicatioBee
Reese, 678 F.3d at 1217,

The Court concludes that the presuitde plausibly constities debt collection
activity. The presuit letter: (lnforms Plaintiff that the mdgage was in default, (2)
itemizes the mortgage debt, (8arns that the total amount may increase due to additional
interest, late charges, costs and attornes,fand (4) offers a wdg get updated figures
“If [there is a] desire to pay off the loan&ithough it does not make an express demand
for payment or set a deadline for paymeng, piesuit letter ultimaly could “exhibit a
tangible pressure upon the recipient” ty jpg suggesting she cure the default and avoid
additional costs and feeSee Helman, 2014 WL 7781199at *5 (citing Gburek v. Litton
Loan Servicing LP, 614 F.3d 380 (7th Cir. 2010))See also Goodin v. Bank of Am., N.A.,
3:13-CV-102-J-32JRK, 2015 W2866872, at *16 n. 10 (M.OFla. Jun. 23, 2015) (“[T]he
addition of payment instructiondye dates, and an amount ovagffierentiate the letters in
this case and demonstrate that the statenf@atgshe animating purpose of collecting on
the debt.”).

Accordingly, taking the allegations ingtsecond Amended Cotamt in the light
most favorable to the Pldiff, the presuit letter plausiplqualifies as debt collection
activity under the FDCPA. PHaiff must therefore allege #Hicient facts to demonstrate
that the Defendants violated a specific psaun of the FDCPA byending this presuit
letter to sustain her claim.

The foreclosure complaint, as opposed to the presuit letter, does not constitute debt

collection activity because itxplicitly states that U.S. Bk, N.A. would not seek a



deficiency judgment and waived its right to do See Freire v. Aldridge Connors, LLP,

994 F. Supp. 2d 1284, 1288 (S.D. Fla. 2014) (citinBeese, 678 F.3d at 1217) (“[I]n the
Eleventh Circuit, the filing o mortgage foreclosure action will constitute debt collection
activity only when the complaint seeks also to collect on the note, that is, to ‘demand

payment on the underlying debt.” ”) (emphasis add8a also Gillis v. Deutsche Bank
Trust Co. Americas, 2:14-CV-418-FTM-38, 205 WL 1345309, at *3M.D. Fla. Mar. 23,
2015) (dismissing FDCPA claim againistvyers and law firm that filed am rem
foreclosure action seeking to foreclose aedstablish the note but not to collect a
deficiency judgment; plaintifflid not identify any acts thabuld constitute an attempt to
collect a debt.)

Although the foreclosure complaint did state that B&hk, N.A. would be entitled
to attorneys’ fe€'s“pursuant to the Notend mortgage” and the foreclosure judgment
stated that the court would retain jurisdictregarding “orders related to pursuit and entry
of a deficiency judgment...[and] awhing supplementary attorneys’ fee$,'these

statements are insufficient toring this foreclosure compta within the ambit of the

FDCPA.

! The Court explicitly rejects Plaintiff's argumentttmerely seeking attorneys’ fees in an in rem
foreclosure action somehow transforms it into an r3@@am action subject to the FDCPA. Attorneys’ fees
can be added to a foreclosure judgment and collected through the sale of the [BepRr8B. Ventures,
Inc.v. F.D.I.C., 514 Fed. Appx. 853, 858-59 (11th Cir. 2013)tfunsting district court to add the attorney's
fees award to the foreclosure judgment based on terms of mortgage agreement).

2 The Florida Supreme Court approved form farafiJudgments of Foreclosure includes similar
language: "Jurisdiction of this actidm retained to enter further orders that are proper including, without
limitation, a deficiency judgment.” Fla. R. Civ.d?Form 1.996(a). The committee notes confirm that “this
form of judgment does not create a personal finahey judgment against the defendant borrower, but
rather an in rem judgment against the propeity.”



b. Violation of a Specific Provision of the FDCPA

Plaintiff alleges in Count | that Defendantiolated 8§ 1692e(10) of the FDCPA by
attaching a notice to the foreclme complaint that fiormed the Plaintiff that she had thirty
days to dispute the validity tfie debt, while the summongonmed her the she had twenty
days to file a response to the compiaiBince Count | depends entirely on the
communications in the foreclosure comptaiand the Court has concluded that the
foreclosure complaint in thisase does not constitute debliection activity, Count | fails
as a matter of law.

In Count Il Plaintiff alleges that “[ylon information and bief, Defendants were
fully aware that theyhad no intent to seek any attorsefees from Plaintiff.” Plaintiff
argues that the fact that the foreclosure jueghtoes not include an award of attorneys’
fees is evidence that the Defendants had natioteto pursue fee$he operative language
in the presuit letter statesath‘because...attorney’s fees and legal costs...may vary from
day to day, this totailmount will increase.” Plaintiff futler alleges that the itemization for
“Corporate Advances” in the amount of $3%2 is a demand for attorney’s fees.
Plaintiff also relies on the demd for attorneys’ fees in thf@reclosure complaint as an
additional basis for Defendants’ vation § 1692e(59f the FDCPA.

Pursuant to 8 1692e(5) of the FDCPAebt collectors are prohibited from
threatening “to take any actidhat cannot legally be taken tirat is not intended to be
taken.” Although generally, courts use abjective “least sophisticated consumer”
standard to determine whether a collectioticgoviolates the FDCPA, the sophistication

of the consumer is “irrelevamo a determination that subsection (5) of 8§ 1692e has been



violated.” Rivera v. Amalgamated Debt Collection Services, Inc., 462 F. Supp. 2d 1223,
1227 (S.D. Fla. 2006) (citinggter v. Credit Bureau, Inc., 760 F.2d 11681175 (11th Cir.
1985)). In evaluating an allegetblation of § 1692e(5), thedirt needs to only look to
the debt collector's intent take the action threatendglvera, 462 F. Supp. 2d at 1227.

The Court concludes that Count Il fags a matter of law. Since the Court
determined that the forecla® complaint does not constitudiebt collection, Plaintiff
cannot rely on it as a basis for this claiAks to the presuit letter, taking Plaintiff's
allegations as true, the Defendants threateneddk attorney’s fedsy listing them in the
presuit letter and warning that they would increase. But, the foteelosmplaint attached
to the Second Amended Complatloes in fact demand attorneys’ fees which contradicts
Plaintiff's allegations that Defendants did matiend to seek those fees.

Additionally, Plaintiff's allegations areonclusory and offeno supporting facts
regarding Defendants lack of intent ek fees in the feclosure complainSee Little v.
Portfolio Recovery Assoc., LLC, 548 Fed. Appx. 514, 51@0th Cir. 2013) (dismissing
plaintiff's claim under § 1692e(5) where stiel not allege anyfacts supporting an
inference that the debt collec®threats to litigate were legalpyoscribed or not made in
good faith). When the conclusory allegatioimsa complaint contradict the exhibits
attached, the exhibits contr&e Griffin Indus., Inc. v. Irvin, 496 F.3d 11891205-06 (11th
Cir. 2007) (*Our duty to accept the factstive complaint as true does not require us to
ignore specific factual details of the pleadindavor of general or conclusory allegations.
Indeed, when the exhibits contradict the gelrsmd conclusory allegations of the pleading,

the exhibits govern.”).
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Therefore, Plaintiff's allegations mudail because the Defendants took the
threatened actiorsee Kalebaugh v. Berman & Rabin, P.A., 43 F. Supp3d 1215, 1217 (D.
Kan. 2014) (“In fact, defendamook the threatened action filing suit against plaintiff
Kalebaugh and plaintiff Ray seeking recoverythe amount of the debt as well as
attorney's fees.”Bieber v. Associated Collection Servs,, Inc., 631 F.Supp. 1410, 1416 (D.
Kan. 1986) (finding § 1692e(Bpt violated where the threagmhaction of filing a lawsuit
was taken by defendant's client, the creditor).

Plaintiff's argument, that the lack of an awd of attorney’s fees in the foreclosure
judgment is evidence that Defendants didinténd to recover its fees, is unavaililsge
Newman v. Ormond, 396 Fed. Appx. 63640 (11th Cir. 2010) (holding that request for
attorney’s fees that complyith Florida law and are comtctually permitted do not violate
the FDCPA simply because tamount the court ultimately ands differs from the amount
requested). Therefore, the Court granes khotion to Dismiss Count Il of the Second
Amended Complaint.

Conclusion

Plaintiff does not sufficiently allege thBefendants were engaged in debt collection
activity as defined in the FD@Pwhen it filed and served an rem foreclosure complaint
against her. Therefore, she cannot state endlai violation of § 182e(10) of the FDCPA
in Count | of her Second Amdad Complaint. Although Platiff does sufficiently allege
that the presuit letter is debt collectiortidty under the FDCPAher allegations that
Defendants threatened to collattiorney’s fees without anytention of actually doing so

in violation of § 1692e(5) of the FDCPA ar@clusory and contradicted by the foreclosure

11



complaint. Therefore Plaintiffs Second Andged Complaint fails testate a cause of
action. Defendants’ Motion to Strike Demand for Jury Trial is moot.

It thereforecORDERED AND ADJUDGED that:

1. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the &nd Amended Complaint (Dkt. #29)
is GRANTED.

2. The Court dismisses Pldii's Second Amended Goplaint with prejudice,
given that this complaint was Plaintifttkird attempt to site a claim against
the Defendants.

3. All pending motions are denied as maat the Clerk of Court is directed to
close this file.

DONE andORDERED in Tampa, Florida, this 20th day of June, 2015.

Jf/zgp J/’ff?fﬁf_% 1),

JA\LES S.MOODY, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Copies furnished to:
Counsel/Parties of Record

S:\Odd\2015\15-cv-615 dismiss 29.docx
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